
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS FOR POSTING

This document supplements the questions and answers that were previously posted on 
December 1, 16 and 30, 2015, and on January 8, 2016.

54.  Regarding Section 1.2.5 (Quantities and Contract Term Lengths), do the Soliciting 
Parties envision that the duration of the EDCs’ commitment for a Transmission Project 
under the FERC Tariff will coincide with the PPA term?  Alternatively, do the Soliciting 
Parties envision that the cost recovery for a Transmission Project will correspond to the 
useful life of the transmission facilities (say 40 years)?  If the latter, what authority do the 
EDCs have to enter into transmission commitments of longer than 20 years?

ANSWER: The Soliciting Parties expect the term for recovery of Transmission Project 
costs from the EDCs and the PPA term to be the same duration.  For conforming price 
offers, the term for the recovery of Transmission Project costs from the EDCs may not 
exceed the duration of the PPA, which may be up to 15 to 20 years. 

The Soliciting Parties have the authority and may be open to bids for which the term for 
recovery for Transmission Project costs from the EDCs are longer than the associated  
end of the term of a PPA under Section 2.2.12.2 of the RFP, if the bidder presents 
justification and demonstrates the benefits to customers of the transmission line after 
the term of the PPA.  However, even those Soliciting Parties that may consider the kinds 
of bids discussed in this response retain sole discretion as to whether to accept such 
bids.  Accordingly, if a bidder submits a conforming price offer, a bidder may submit an 
alternative pricing option with cost recovery for transmission that extends beyond the 
term of the PPA, with the second pricing option being subject to the fee for an 
alternative pricing option.  If a bidder submits an alternate pricing option, the bidder 
should specify what the rights of the EDCs would be with regard to transmission service 
after the expiration of the PPA.

78.  Please advise if joint submissions that feature a transmission project connecting 
multiple generators can be structured around a merged proposal document with 
separate CPPD forms and Appendix D signature pages. In the case of a merged 
proposal, when an entity signs an Appendix D page, is that certification only for text and 
information pertaining to the entity’s project? Or would this also include information 
about the other projects in the merged proposal?

ANSWER: See answers to questions 64, 68, 70 and 71.  In executing the Certification 
where a proposed project is part of a portfolio bid, the Bidder should provide the 
certification with respect to its proposed project, the information it is providing with 
respect to its proposed project and the relationship of the proposed project to the 
portfolio bid, and the Bidder’s knowledge or lack thereof regarding the matters set forth 
in the Certification.

93.  Section 2.2.14.  Section 2.2.14 states in part:  “Pricing for the Transmission Project 
should be proposed separately under a FERC-filed tariff or rate schedule, and if that 



pricing is based on the Transmission Project’s cost of service and may change during 
the contract term based on changes in the cost of service, a full revenue requirements 
model must be submitted as a working Excel spreadsheet.”  Given the PPA duration 
terms for Massachusetts (10-20 years) and Connecticut (up to 20 years) set forth on 
page 11, please confirm that it is acceptable to develop full revenue requirements, 
pursuant to Section 2.2.14, for the Transmission Project that continue to assign the cost 
responsibility to the EDCs after the end of the associated PPA(s).

ANSWER: Please see the response to question 54. 

95.  Regarding “6.8 Provide the electrical models of all energy resources supporting the 
proposed project in accordance with the filing requirements of the ISO-NE Tariff 
Schedule 22 and 23.” Please advise what specific information or model is being 
requested.  Will the ISO-NE interconnection application Appendix B suffice?

ANSWER: The models and information requested vary depending upon the types of 
energy resources supporting a proposed project.  For example, an energy resource that 
is a Large Generating Facility as that term is defined in Schedule 22 should provide the 
information described in Appendix 1 of Schedule 22.  An energy resource that is a Small 
Generating Facility as that term is defined in Schedule 23 should provide the 
information described in the applicable attachment to Schedule 23.

96.  Section 2.2.3, Response to Q36.  Please clarify the response to Q36.  

a) Please elaborate on the statement in the response which states that in “cases 
with multiple projects included in one bid, any resulting agreement(s) will be 
conditioned upon the completion of all projects included in the bid prior to any 
payments beginning to an individual project.”  Is the Evaluation Committee 
referring to PPA projects (Generation) or the Transmission project as well?  

An independent transmission provider may have multiple bids and/or generators 
developed by unrelated third parties.  This qualifier seems to be unfinanceable 
and/or puts the burden of a delay in one generator on other generation/
transmission.

b) Can the buyer and seller under the PPA mutually agree to stage the Commercial 
Operations Date of multiple projects under one bid, and thus have one or more 
projects come into Commercial Operations prior to the others and receive 
payments?  

c) The condition and tying set forth in the response to Question 36 seems 
unnecessary given that the generator in the PPA will agree to a “Commercial 
Operation Date”, and the generator will pay “Delayed Damages” pursuant to 
Section 3.2 for failing to meet the Commercial Operations Date.   Was the tying/
conditioning arrangement set forth in response to Question 36 incorrectly stated, 
given that each generator will likely have a different Commercial Operation Date, 



and each generator is already held to milestones and subject to damages for 
missing the Commercial Operations Date in the PPA?

ANSWER: a)  The statement refers to both PPA projects and the Transmission Project 
in the context of a portfolio bid (i.e. a combination Transmission Project and one or more 
PPAs).  As noted in Section 2.3.1.1 of the RFP, the quantitative evaluation process will 
include an evaluation of the indirect economic benefits to customers using the outputs 
from a nodal electric market simulation model.  Benefits to be considered are based on 
a combination of change in locational marginal price and change in production cost.  If 
one project in a bid with multiple projects is delayed, customers may not realize the 
expected LMP and production cost benefits until the final project commences 
commercial operation even though the other projects may be completed and 
operational.  Not allowing payments to any project until all projects are complete is a 
mechanism that protects customers from paying for benefits that they are unlikely to 
receive. 

Bidders must submit at least one bid that conforms to the requirement that all projects 
be completed prior to payments beginning for any individual project.  However, in the 
context of a portfolio bid under which at least one generator and the Transmission 
Project are in service, the Evaluation Team is willing to consider an alternative approach 
that is less difficult for bidders provided that it is as protective to customers.  In 
considering this alternative approach (Alternative Payment Approach), the Evaluation 
Team will consider whether the particular portfolio bid suitably addresses the risks to 
customers of project delays or project failures.  It is expected that the bidder would 
address a key concern of the Evaluation Team that customers not pay for transmission 
services that are not justified by the delivery of Qualified Clean Energy.  If the 
Alternative Payment Approach could involve a different physical Delivery profile from the 
base bid, then the Alternative Payment Approach would require an additional run of the 
electric market simulation model and therefore would trigger an additional bid fee.  
Please see the response to question 24.

(b) In a portfolio bid, at least one bid must assume that payments under the PPAs and 
to the transmission provider would not commence until all PPA projects and the 
Transmission Project have achieved commercial operation.  However, the Evaluation 
Team is also willing to consider additional bids submitted under the Alternative 
Payment Approach.  Under the Alternative Payment Approach, as a part of the portfolio 
bid different Commercial Operation Dates may be specified for the PPAs (however, for 
each individual PPA, there may be only one Commercial Operation Date, as further 
explained in the response to question 119), and reduced payments would be made to 
the transmission provider (based upon a proposed Alternative Payment Approach 
alternative bid acceptable to the Evaluation Team) where the Commercial Operation 
Date has been achieved for at least one PPA and the Transmission Project.   Under that 
alternative, full payments for the transmission service would not commence until the 



Commercial Operation Date (milestone) has been satisfied for all PPAs and associated 
transmission under that bid.  

c) As indicated previously, a key concern is that payments for transmission service 
should not be made that are not justified by the Delivery of Qualified Clean Energy. The 
liquidated damages provisions in the PPAs are not intended to address this concern. 

100. Are Class I resources eligible to serve as balancing resources?

ANSWER: For MA and RI, please see the response to question 12 

For CT, balancing resources are by definition not Class I or large-scale hydro resources. 
However, there are no circumstances in which a balancing resource is eligible and a 
class I resource is not. Balancing resources must be a part of either: (a) Qualified Clean 
Energy and/or RECs via PPA with a Transmission Project pursuant to Section 1.2.2.2 of 
the RFP; or (b) Qualified Clean Energy via Transmission Project under a Performance-
Based Tariff Containing a Qualified Clean Energy Delivery Commitment pursuant to 
Section 1.2.2.3 of the RFP. 

101. Is a balancing resource eligible to sell energy only?

ANSWER: For Massachusetts, yes, subject to the response to question 12. 

Rhode Island does not intend to procure any energy or RECS under a PPA pursuant to 
Chapter 39-31. 

For Connecticut, balancing resources are not eligible to sell energy only under a PPA.  
Connecticut is buying all current and future environmental attributes for the term of the 
PPA.

102. Can an existing resource within ISO-NE participate as a balancing resource as part 
of a new transmission development, or does the resource need to be newly delivered 
into ISO-NE? 

ANSWER: For Massachusetts and Rhode Island, please see the answer to question 12. 
That resource would have to meet all of the other requirements of the RFP in order to 
qualify. 

For Connecticut, an existing resource within ISO-NE can participate as part of either: (a) 
Qualified Clean Energy and/or RECs via PPA with Transmission Project pursuant to 
Section 1.2.2.2 of the RFP; or (b) Qualified Clean Energy via Transmission Project 
under a Performance-Based Tariff Containing a Qualified Clean Energy Delivery 
Commitment pursuant to Section 1.2.2.3 of the RFP. 

103. If a Class I resource is not eligible to serve as a balancing resource, but a facility is 
certified as both Class I and Class II due to a diverse fuel mix, would its participation be 
limited to that portion of the fuel mix that is Class II-eligible? 



ANSWER: Please see the response to question 100. 

104. Recent changes approved through the ISO-NE stakeholder process to the 
NEPOOL GIS system allow for the unit specific tracking of non-RPS eligible large-scale 
hydro facilities located in control areas adjacent to ISO-NE. Such large-scale hydro 
resources are recognized as Qualified Clean Energy resources in the Clean Energy 
RFP, with the requirement that the environmental attributes produced are delivered in 
New England, and are not applied to any other control area. While the process for 
qualifying RPS eligible resources for inclusion in the NEPOOL GIS is established and 
clear, we are not aware of a process within the procuring states to qualify Qualified 
Clean Energy resources which are not eligible in the RPS program. Can the procuring 
states provide more information on the qualification process for large-scale hydro 
resources in adjacent control areas, in order to ensure full compliance with the RFP bid 
submission requirements. 

ANSWER: The Evaluation Team will determine based on the information submitted by 
the bidder whether a large-scale hydro resource in an adjacent control area satisfies the 
definition of Qualified Clean Energy. Please see the answer to question 26 with regard 
to environmental attributes. Bidders are responsible for providing sufficient information 
to allow the Evaluation Team to make its determination. Please note in addition that for 
CT, "Large-scale Hydropower" is defined as any hydropower facility that: (A) began 
operation on or after January 1, 2003; (B) is located in the New England Power Pool 
Generation Information System geographic eligibility area in accordance with Rule 2.3 
of said system or an area abutting the northern boundary of the New England Power 
Pool Generation Information System geographic eligibility area that is not 
interconnected with any other control area that is not a part of the New England Power 
Pool Generation Information System geographic eligibility area; (C) delivers power into 
such geographic eligibility area; and (D) has a generating capacity of more than thirty 
megawatts. Accordingly, hydropower and associated transmission meeting this 
definition is eligible under the Connecticut statutes. 

106. Can Connecticut clarify the territorial limitations for eligible large-scale hydro? 

ANSWER: Please see the response to question 104. 

109. Pursuant to section 1.6 of the RFP, the calculation of bid fees is based on MWs. 
How should a bidder calculate its bid fees if its project is not in whole MWs (e.g., the 
project is 52.7 MWs)? 

ANSWER: The bidder should use the actual number of MWs to calculate its bid fee. In 
the example, the bidder would use 52.7 MWs. 

111. Under PPA section 3.4 the Commercial Operation Date occurs so long as the 
Actual Facility Size is at least 90% of the proposed nameplate capacity. What are the 
consequences if the completed facility is below 90% of the proposed nameplate 
capacity? For example, what if the completed facility is 89% of the proposed nameplate 
capacity? 



ANSWER: Failure to construct a Facility with a nameplate capacity of at least 90% of 
that proposed and not more than 10 MW less than that proposed by the Guaranteed 
Commercial Operation Date would constitute an Event of Default by the Seller of the 
obligation to satisfy the Commercial Operation Date Critical Milestone. The Buyer would 
have all of the remedies available for such an Event of Default, including, without 
limitation, termination of the PPA. Please refer to Sections 3.1, 3.4, 9.2 and 9.3 of the 
PPA. 

112. Section 4.2(a) of the draft PPA provides that if the LMP at the Delivery Point is, or 
is reasonably likely to be negative, subject to notice, Seller may curtail delivery during 
such period. If Seller has operational constraints that do not permit physically 
curtailment of project output, during such periods can the Seller opt to sell into the Day 
Ahead Energy Market or Real Time Energy Market? 

ANSWER: No. Under Section 4.1(a) of the PPA, the Seller may not curtail or otherwise 
reduce deliveries of the Products to Buyer and sell those Products to other Purchasers. 

115.  With reference to section 2.3.1: Evaluation Using Quantitative Evaluation Criteria, 
please identify the “objective benchmark” that will be used to determine whether a bid is 
economically competitive.  What assurance do bidders have that the objective 
benchmark is truly objective and not arbitrary?

ANSWER: Following the receipt of bids, the Evaluation Team will conduct a screening 
analysis and based on a comparative review may determine that certain bids are not 
sufficiently economically competitive to proceed for further quantitative evaluation.  That 
decision will be made by consensus.  Given the potential diversity of bids, an “objective 
benchmark” could not be predetermined prior to bids being submitted.

116.  In regard to section 2.3.1.1, the calculation of Indirect Economic Benefits, please 
explain in more detail: (i) the change in LMP; does this mean change in LMP to all 
consumers in Connecticut? (ii) “change in production cost; is this the change in the cost 
of producing the power in Connecticut, or is this used to determine the cost of the 
marginal unit, net imports and exports to customers (from different zones within 
NEPOOL, or from outside the control area)?

ANSWER: Section 2.3.1.1 of the RFP states with regard to indirect economic benefits, 
“Benefits to be considered are based on a combination of change in locational marginal 
price (LMP) and change in production cost including consideration of net imports and 
exports to customers of the Procuring States.”  The Evaluation Team has not, at this 
time, determined, in consultation with the Evaluation Team Consultant, the specific 
economic metric it will be using in the evaluation in accordance with this provision but it 
will be determined prior to bids being received.

117.  According to section 2.3.1.2 of the RFP, bids including one or more PPA’s will be 
evaluated on both direct contract price benefits and indirect economic benefits. Direct 
contract price benefits will be evaluated using a mark-to-market comparison of the 



purchase price of any Incremental Qualified Clean Energy and/or RECs under a PPA 
to their projected market prices at the delivery point with the project in-service.  How 
then will the evaluation process value the benefit of energy physically delivered to the 
state, e.g., Connecticut, compared to electricity purchased by the state, Connecticut, but 
delivered to an area outside of Connecticut.

ANSWER:  In addition to the direct contract benefits referenced in the question, if the 
Bid passes the initial screening process described in 2.3.1, it will be evaluated for 
indirect economic benefits as discussed in 2.3.1.1.  If the project delivers energy in 
Connecticut, then the modeling described in 2.3.1.1 may show benefits to Connecticut 
that would not occur with deliveries outside of Connecticut. To the extent that the 
described benefit is considered beyond the direct and indirect economic benefits, it 
would be scored as part of the qualitative evaluation process set forth in section 2.3.2 
using the criteria of section 2.3.2.1..

119.  The PPA provides for a “Commercial Operation Date” (see e.g., section 3.1). Wind 
and fuel cell projects are likely to be brought on line in phases as individual units are 
delivered and installed until the project is complete and achieves 100% of its proposed 
nameplate capacity. Will multiple or phased Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date(s) 
be considered in order to reflect the installation schedule of such technologies?

ANSWER: Multiple Commercial Operation Dates are not permitted for a Facility under 
the PPA.  See Sections 3.3(b) and 3.4(b) of the PPA.  For portfolio bids, please see the 
response to question 96(b).

121.  Section 8.1 of the PPA provides that the Agreement may be terminated by either 
Party if Regulatory Approval is not received within 270 days after filing. The definition of 
Regulatory Approval requires that a final order no longer be subject to appeal or 
rehearing. If an appeal is taken, it is unlikely to be resolved within 270 days. Would the 
right of termination be stayed in the event of an appeal or rehearing that goes beyond 
the 270 day deadline?

ANSWER: No, under section 8.1 of the PPA, either party may terminate the PPA if all 
applicable appeals and/or rehearings are not finally resolved within 270 days of the 
filing for the Regulatory Approval.

125.  Section 1 calls for the Bidders to submit the Certification, Project and Pricing Data 
(CPPD) workbook in the form provided on Clean Energy RFP website.  For a joint bid 
under Section 1.2.2.2 submitted by a transmission developer and multiple generation 
developers, may the joint bidders submit multiple, separate CPPD workbooks as 
working Microsoft Excel files that contain the requested information for the generation 
projects and transmission components of the joint bid?  Submitting a combined CPPD 
that contains all of the requested information for all of the generation projects and 
transmission project of a joint bid is problematic and potentially illegal, as it would 
require the generation and transmission developers to share cost and other competitive 
information with each other prior to submitting the joint bid.



ANSWER: Bidders who are submitting a joint bid should provide separate CPPD 
workbooks as working Microsoft Excel files.  The separate CPPDs should clearly 
indicate the joint nature of the bid.  Please also see the response to questions 64 and 
78.

127. Can aggregated generation facilities bidding for a REC only contract that 
collectively total a minimum of 20MW be interconnected at several points and/or pricing 
nodes? For example, would the following type of REC-only bid constitute a qualified 
facility: two 10MW solar facilities in different parts of a state and interconnected at 
different nodes? 

ANSWER: No. As set forth in Section 2.2.7 of the RFP, the minimum size generator for 
a minimum 20 MW contract is 20 MW. The only applicable exception, also identified in 
Section 2.2.7, is an aggregation of generating facilities “provided that the Eligible 
Facilities have the same contract purchase rate (if the bid is for Qualified Clean Energy 
via a PPA), Deliver to the same Delivery point, and that the aggregation allows for the 
execution of one contract per EDC for all the Eligible Facilities included in the bid (i.e. 
each EDC will only execute one contract for the bid, with one price and one Delivery 
point).” 

128. If bidding for a REC-only contract, can aggregated power generation facilities 
(totaling at minimum 20MW) be interconnected at different locations and/or different 
price nodes? By way of example, the Bidder has 25 MWs worth of qualified renewable 
energy facilities in development in different locations (whereby each project is 5 MW in 
size and the power and capacity is already accounted for under a long-term utility PPA), 
so can the REC-only bid come from different price nodes? 

ANSWER: No. See answer to question 127. 

130.  The RFP requests various data and study results that are protected by CEII, but 
bidders are not at liberty to disclose such data without verifying that the receiving parties 
are CEII cleared in ISO-NE and potentially also in neighboring RTOs/ISOs. Specifically, 
we are concerned about Feasibility Study results, SRIS results, PSS/E data. Will the 
soliciting parties confirm that CEII data will only be accessed by those with the 
appropriate clearances?
 
ANSWER: To the extent a bidder believes that study results or other information 
required for a bid that complies with the RFP is subject to CEII provisions of ISO-NE, 
the bidder must undertake all reasonable steps to provide such information to the 
Evaluation Team, provided that any such information may be identified by the bidder as 
both “confidential” and “CEII” and the Evaluation Team will treat the information 
identified as confidential in accordance with the Confidential Information policies and 
practices described in Section 1.3.3 of the RFP.  To the extent that such information is 
subject to an ISO-NE CEII Non-Disclosure Agreement, the bidder must separately 
identify with specificity such information in its bid.



 
Bidders should not provide CEII information from neighboring RTOs/ISOs.  The 
Evaluation Team may request this information at a later date.


